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Author’s Note



In the summer of 2019 I set out with a vague notion of profiling Hunter Biden, who was then beginning to attract media attention. My initial research quickly led me instead to a more investigative story for Politico Magazine about Hunter’s business ventures, those of his uncle Jim Biden, and the ways in which they intersected with Joe Biden’s political career and public office.


There are more fun ways to spend a summer than digging through documents and piecing together old newspaper clippings in order to assemble a story about a sensitive, contentious topic, and I assumed this first piece on the Biden family would also be my last.


But between the time I started working on that piece and the time it was published, new allegations from Jim’s former business partners had emerged in a lawsuit in Tennessee that fit the pattern I had documented. From there, I received a steady trickle of new tips and leads related, primarily, to the business ventures and finances of Biden relatives.


Soon, Donald Trump’s ham-handed efforts to pressure Ukrainian authorities into investigating the Bidens came to light and the topic of the family’s business dealings suddenly became central to a presidential impeachment. Then, Joe staged a dramatic comeback in the Democratic primary and won the presidency, even as Trump sought to make Hunter an issue in the race.


The Bidens, and the efforts of Trump’s allies to sully them, became my de facto beat.


We live in an age of distrust and of coordinated campaigns to manipulate public opinion. Readers have every right to wonder whether an extended inquiry into the Biden family, emphasizing its finances, is just some instrument of a broader effort to create a political narrative. After all, as this book covers, there really was a conspiracy against the Bidens, or several loosely aligned conspiracies.


When I started to publish articles about the Bidens, I received a fair number of offers of professional opposition research. Mostly, the research I was offered amounted to compilations of old, unflattering news articles. These could provide useful context but were hardly the stuff of a masterful information campaign.


Instead, almost all my reporting resulted from my own research or tips from regular people. One article did result primarily from a piece of professional opposition research, though even that required weeks’ worth of additional reporting.


At times, I struggled to reconcile the folksy image of the Bidens that had become familiar to me as a news consumer and young journalist during the Obama era with the messier portrait that emerged from my recent reporting for Politico.


This book, which grows out of that reporting, represents my attempt to grapple with the Bidens’ story—an epic saga of an American political family—in its entirety. To understand any world leader it is helpful to understand their family, but I believe that in Joe Biden’s case it is more crucial than in most.


Because both the campaign controversies and my own reporting dealt with the Bidens’ finances, this telling of their story includes a special emphasis on that subject and the ethical questions raised by it. Journalists have produced reams of excellent reporting about the ethical problems posed by the Trumps’ finances, which in many cases were more direct, more clear-cut, and on a grander scale than the issues raised here. This book does not deal with that subject in any depth other than to note it undermined Trump’s ability to make a convincing case against his opponent.


At the highest levels, even the appearance of a conflict of interest or of special treatment threatens to undermine public faith in government. Did any of the Bidens’ activities go further and create undue influence, allow hostile actors to compromise a member of the first family, or otherwise cross ethical lines? Joe has maintained that he has never discussed his relatives’ business dealings with them, and several of those relatives have repeatedly denied allegations that they used their family connections for profit.


I believe that reasonable people may reach different conclusions about the motives of the people depicted in this book and about the significance of the episodes described.


I also believe that the best way to understand people in power, and subjects of international controversy, is to attempt a thorough, timely examination, provide context, and lay out the available evidence, though it may often be inconclusive and in places seem contradictory.


Too often people interpret the news of the day through the lens of their own political sympathies, and a more nuanced understanding of our leaders emerges only much later, when political pressures have eased.


This phenomenon seems to have gotten worse during the Trump era. In response to destabilizing social forces, a president who frequently spouted falsehoods, and a deluge of online information, Americans retreated into competing, inconsistent versions of reality (some more unhinged than others). As subjects like Donald Trump’s relationship to Russia and the origins of COVID-19 illustrate, our understanding of complex stories often evolves with time, and many questions may not be definitively settled for years, if ever.


The Bidens’ story isn’t over, but I hope that this early attempt at a holistic telling of that story will help people understand events from a common set of facts, even if it inevitably remains incomplete and open to multiple interpretations.















Chekhov’s Laptop





“If in the first act you have hung a pistol on the wall, then in the following one it should be fired. Otherwise don’t put it there.”


—Russian playwright Anton Chekhov, laying out the dramatic principle known as “Chekhov’s gun”




In the spring of 2019, as Joe Biden set out on the first leg of his third presidential campaign, his son, Hunter, was sowing the seeds for the campaign’s dramatic conclusion.


Even by the standards of Hunter’s tumultuous life, the past few months had been eventful ones for America’s future first son.


The previous October, his girlfriend, Hallie, had taken his .38 revolver from the center console of his pickup truck and thrown it into a trash can outside Janssen’s, a high-end grocery store near Wilmington that the Biden family had long frequented.


When Hunter discovered his gun was missing, he told Hallie—who was also the widow of his late brother, Beau—to go back and retrieve it. But when she returned to the store later the same day, the gun was no longer in the trash can.


The Delaware State Police were called, and Hunter was summoned to the grocery store for questioning.


Curiously for a call about a missing handgun, the Federal Bureau of Investigation showed up, too.


Even more curious, two Secret Service agents showed up at Starquest, the store where Hunter had recently purchased the gun, according to two people familiar with the incident. At the time, the Bidens were not under Secret Service protection, but the agents wanted the paperwork Hunter had filled out to purchase the gun. The owner of the store refused to give it to them, because the paperwork fell under the jurisdiction of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives. (The Secret Service has denied any involvement in the incident).1


Not long after the agents left, the ATF paid its own visit to the store to get the paperwork.


The frantic search for the gun ended within a few days when an old man known to rummage through Janssen’s trash for recyclables turned it in.


The incident did not lead to any charges. Hunter had skipped town, anyway. A few days after the gun fiasco, Hallie dropped him off in Newburyport, a scenic old port city on the north shore of Massachusetts. Hunter was there to get clean with the help of ketamine therapy and Keith Ablow, a well-known psychiatrist. Ablow was an odd choice for a confidant. He was a regular guest on Fox News, where he was recognizable by his clean-shaven head. And he had made headlines back in 2012 for suggesting on air that Hunter’s father, a teetotaler, had either been drunk during his vice presidential debate with Paul Ryan or was showing signs of dementia.2


But Hunter seemed to enjoy his time with Ablow in New England. He talked of writing a memoir, and of rearranging his troubled life so that he could spend more time with his family. He practiced yoga, took art lessons, and received intravenous infusions of vitamins and minerals.


He skied at Wachusett Mountain and went to a local theatre to see Crippled Inside, a play written by a psychologist from nearby Rockport,3 that deals with mental health and addiction. In it, a middle-aged man, Jimmy, reflects on his teenage years, when his father, John, a top Justice Department official, bailed him out of scrapes while playing politics in Washington.4


Hunter was an ideal viewer for this particular drama. At forty-eight, his own personal problems were still complicating his father’s ambitions in Washington. His business ventures entangled him again and again with shady characters and people with an interest in influencing Joe. He drank too much and was hopelessly addicted to crack cocaine. A few years earlier, he had been kicked out of the Navy reserves for failing a drug test.


Then his marriage to his first wife, Kathleen, had unraveled as he embarked on a tabloid-worthy affair with his late brother’s wife. He had just fathered a son out of wedlock with another woman, a graduate student moonlighting as a stripper, setting up what would soon become a messy paternity fight. But through it all, as Hunter’s political liabilities piled up, Joe had stood steadfastly by him.


In mid-January, Hunter visited tiny Plum Island Airport and took an introductory flying lesson. For five or ten minutes, he got to take over the steering himself. He seemed happy up in the air over Ipswich Bay. Here, at least, he was in control, gliding along far above the troubles of the world below. He told the instructor he would like to have more lessons, but he never came back.


Hunter moved on to other plans. He began talking to a local man he wanted to hire as an assistant. In late January, they met at a Starbucks near the waterfront to discuss Hunter’s goals, big and small.


He wanted to spend more time with his father and go to more of his daughters’ lacrosse games; to get Lasik eye surgery; to get back in touch with a business associate, Jimmy Bulger, the Boston-based scion of another Irish-Catholic political family.


He also wanted help getting his arms around his finances. He had something on the order of twenty bank accounts, but his life was in such disarray that he did not have the log-in credentials to access many of them. He had business interests around the world, and he wanted to sign up for a TSA program that would let him speed through airport lines.


Then, just as Hunter seemed ready to pull his life back together, he was gone. He got in his truck and left Newburyport in early February, a hard time of year for him ever since his older brother died of brain cancer in 2015. The sudden departure coincided with what would have been Beau’s fiftieth birthday on February 3 and with his own forty-ninth birthday the following day.


In his haste, Hunter left behind some of his belongings at Ablow’s office, including a laptop.
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The months leading up to Joe’s launch were also eventful ones for the president’s personal lawyer.


In his latest act, former New York City mayor Rudy Giuliani was representing Donald Trump in Special Counsel Robert Mueller’s Russia investigation. The work was pro bono, but Giuliani made his money representing wealthy foreigners with thorny legal and political problems, so the proximity to the president was well worth the trouble.


Not long after Hunter showed up in Newburyport, a private investigator approached Giuliani saying he had information implicating Ukraine in efforts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election.


Claims that Democrats had colluded with Ukraine in 2016 could be very useful to his client. At the time, Mueller was investigating Russia’s covert efforts to boost Trump’s first presidential campaign, seeking to determine whether Trump was complicit in those efforts.


As Giuliani stuck his nose into Ukrainian politics, other claims wafted up, claims about Hunter’s work for a Ukrainian energy company, Burisma, and Joe’s role overseeing U.S. policy toward the embattled Eastern European nation. Giuliani smelled pay dirt.


For one thing, Joe was the 2020 presidential contender who most troubled Trump, so anything that muddied Joe up was good for his client.


For another thing, Giuliani had his own history with the Bidens. Once upon a time, Joe had called Giuliani for a favor: His niece, Missy, wanted a job in Giuliani’s mayoral administration. Giuliani obliged, and Missy took a job on his legislative affairs staff.5


The courtesies extended by America’s bipartisan favor mill went only so far: Giuliani had been on the butt end of the most memorable line of Joe’s short-lived second presidential campaign—or at least the most memorable line that was not a gaffe. Back in 2007, Joe had skewered Giuliani’s penchant for bringing up his role in responding to the September 11 terror attacks, saying that the only three things Giuliani needed to string together a sentence were “a noun and a verb and 9/11.” The line stung, and the rap stuck.


Hunter, meanwhile, had grown into something of a competitor with Giuliani in the lucrative market of well-connected Americans selling their legal services and political help to deep-pocketed foreigners.


In one instance, the men were more like indirect collaborators. In 2015, a fabulously wealthy Romanian businessman had hired Hunter to help fend off corruption charges in his home country. Hunter then pulled Louis Freeh, a former FBI director, into the effort to defend the businessman, who was eventually convicted. Freeh later brought on Giuliani to work for the same oligarch as they pressured Romanian authorities to ease up on the man.6


To hunt for Biden dirt, Giuliani teamed up with two Florida-based Soviet émigrés straight out of political skullduggery central casting.


Lev Parnas, born in Ukraine and raised in Brooklyn, reportedly led a colorful life before his turn in the global spotlight. In one memorable 2008 incident, which he denied, his landlord claimed Parnas had put a gun to his head when he was trying to evict Parnas from a South Florida condominium. “This is my last warning to you,” Parnas allegedly told him, then got into a Porsche and drove away. The condo in question was on the forty-second floor of Trump Palace in Sunny Isles Beach.7


Lev’s partner, Igor Fruman, was born in Belarus and became a successful businessman with interests in Ukraine. They included a beach club he owned in Odessa, on the Black Sea, called Mafia Rave. He also reportedly enjoyed personal ties to the most powerful businessman in that region—a man known locally by the nicknames “the Lightbulb” and “the Gray Cardinal.”


During the Trump years, Lev and Igor spread money around Republican circles and pushed for the ouster of the U.S. ambassador to Ukraine, a career diplomat intent on cracking down on corruption there.


When Rudy went digging into claims about Hunter, Lev and Igor were there to help. They connected him with Ukraine’s prosecutor general, Yuriy Lutsenko.


While Hunter was piecing his life back together in Newburyport, Giuliani was meeting with Lutsenko in New York, urging him to investigate the Bidens. They met again in Warsaw. In March 2019, Lutsenko rekindled a dormant investigation of Mykola Zlochevsky, the Russia-aligned magnate who had hired Hunter to the board of his energy company.8


This was not enough to appease Giuliani’s client. Soon, Trump would threaten to withhold military aid from Ukraine in a bid to pressure the country’s president to announce an investigation of Hunter. Trump’s threats led to the third presidential impeachment in American history.


But in a grand irony of history, while Trump was getting himself impeached for trying to force the Ukrainians to investigate Hunter, his own Justice Department was doing just that, right under his nose.


The FBI had responded to the case of Hunter’s missing revolver because it already had him under surveillance.


In conjunction with the Internal Revenue Service, the FBI and the U.S. Attorney’s office in Delaware had been investigating his finances, looking at potential violations of money laundering and tax laws, as well as the Foreign Agents Registration Act. Investigators took an interest, too, in Hunter’s business partner and uncle, Jim, Joe’s younger brother.9


Hunter’s and Jim’s dealings with a Chinese oil tycoon and the tycoon’s corrupt deputy had drawn the interest of the FBI’s counterintelligence division.10 So, too, had Hunter’s payments to a number of Eastern European women, over concerns that they could be used to compromise him with evidence of embarrassing activities.11 (A report by Senate Republicans later stated that some of the payments show apparent links to “an Eastern European prostitution or human trafficking ring.” Lawyers for Hunter did not respond to questions about the payments or about his dealings with the Chinese tycoon.)


This was not even the full extent of the Justice Department’s interest in Hunter’s activities. Prosecutors in the securities fraud division in the Southern District of New York also began scrutinizing overseas payments to Hunter that had surfaced in an unrelated prosecution of one of his business partners, looking for signs of possible money laundering.


By all indications, neither Trump nor Hunter had any idea this was happening.


After Newburyport, Hunter went on an extended crack binge in Connecticut, holed up in seedy motels along I-95, in the company of prostitutes and drug dealers. Then, in the weeks before Joe’s campaign launch, he briefly materialized in Delaware.12


That’s when John Paul Mac Isaac says Hunter brought three other laptops, MacBook Pros—one affixed with a sticker for the Beau Biden Foundation—to Mac Isaac’s computer repair shop inside a drab, brick shopping plaza near Hunter’s home in Wilmington, leaving one behind for data recovery. (Hunter has acknowledged the laptop “certainly” could be his, and that he was not keeping track of his possessions during this time, but he has not directly addressed whether he ever dropped off equipment at Mac Isaac’s store, and he has suggested he may instead have been hacked.)


A few weeks later, Joe held his campaign kickoff rally in Philadelphia. His children and grandchildren were on hand to support him, save for one notable exception. Among the gathered Bidens, where Hunter should have been sat a single, empty chair.13


His presence would be felt in the campaign soon enough, and hang over its closing weeks, when the laptop said to be sitting in that drab shopping plaza became the subject of international controversy.


Joe’s close relationship with his family had always been the central fact of his public life. When Joe was nobody, his relatives ran his campaigns. Weeks after he pulled off a shocking Senate upset at the age of twenty-nine, his first wife and infant daughter died in a car accident. Joe’s story of heartbreaking personal loss became an important part of his public profile, and the basis for his unusual capacity to connect with voters on a deeply personal level. The death of his eldest son from brain cancer in 2015, just as Beau was poised to enter the prime of his own political career, precluded Joe’s anticipated 2016 presidential run, one that many, in hindsight, believed would have prevented the Trump presidency from happening.


Likewise, for the Bidens, a normal family that came out of nowhere to win a seemingly unwinnable Senate seat, Joe’s political career became a central fact in their lives. It led some of them to their own careers in politics and public service. It also opened the door to job opportunities, loans, and favors from people who wanted to be in Joe’s good graces. Over the course of five decades, at a time when the country’s wealth and power were reaching new heights, they learned how to leverage their proximity to Joe in order to make it in America, and to get themselves to the right side of the divide that was making life harder and more disordered for many normal families.


Now, thanks in large part to the machinations of Trump and Giuliani, much of American politics—not to mention global geopolitics—would soon come to revolve around Hunter and his relationship with his father. To understand that, and almost everything else about Joe, you have to understand the Biden clan, America’s middle-class Kennedys. And to understand them, it is best to start at the beginning.















The Clan





“If you ever speak to my son like that again, I’ll come back and rip that bonnet off your head. Do you understand me?”


—Eugenia “Jean” Finnegan Biden, dressing down a nun




The wrought-iron gates of Archmere Academy are intricately worked with accents of gold paint. Large and imposing, they open onto a grand, sandy-colored brick walkway. The walkway leads to an old manor house, the former home of a twentieth-century industrialist.


Though Archmere sounds, and looks, like it should be an English boarding school, it is Catholic and situated in Claymont, Delaware, just south of the Pennsylvania state line.


By November 2020, its gates had seen better days. They were sealed shut with rusty padlocks, the bricks underneath them faded and strewn with litter.14


But in 1953, in the eyes of a ten-year-old Joseph Robinette Biden Jr., they might as well have been the pearly gates to heaven.


Joe had just moved to Claymont, to an apartment complex that represented a step down from the home he had departed in Scranton, Pennsylvania. From his bedroom, he enjoyed a clear view of Archmere’s gates, and he dreamed of one day being welcomed inside.15 The gates were just across the street. In other ways, the world beyond them was further out of reach than young Joe appreciated.


Thanks to a family connection, Joe’s father had spent the war years flush. Joe Sr.’s uncle, Bill Sheen Sr., was in industrial materials, and he was rich.


When Joe Sr. moved to Scranton, Pennsylvania, at the end of high school and the middle of the Great Depression, he brought with him a worldliness that the local boys lacked. Scranton beauty Jean Finnegan found it attractive, and the pair coupled up.


After Joe Sr. came of age, he went to work for his uncle and alongside his cousin. The company did good business. Then the war came, and the real money flowed. The sort of money created by governments and wars. As tensions with Nazi Germany mounted, Congress mandated that all ships engaged in the North Atlantic trade armor their sides using one of Sheen’s products.


Joe Sr.—“Big Joe,” people called him—managed the Boston operation. He spent time on yachts. He flew around the Eastern seaboard in company planes, hunted pheasant, and drove Buick convertibles gifted by his uncle.16


Joe was born on November 20, 1942. When he was young, and the end of the war money came within sight, Joe Sr. went looking for his next big thing. He tried crop-dusting with his cousin, but Bill Jr. was a layabout and a drunk. He went into a furniture store with a friend, but the friend absconded with the money.17


At one point, Joe Sr. was going to go into business with Russell Preno, a Scranton pal whose Italian restaurant, Preno’s, was a local institution and Biden family favorite. The pair wanted to open a plant to can tomatoes and sauce in East Mountain, a part of town by Lake Scranton. The plan never took off.18


As Joe was reaching school age, the family was back in a modest home in Scranton, surrounded by his mother’s family. The Finnegans, born and bred to modest means, sometimes got the feeling that Joe Sr. was putting on airs.


Except for Jean, who didn’t mind a little bit of airs. “Joey, remember, you’re a Biden,” she would tell her firstborn son. “You’re every man’s equal. No man is better than you.”


“It was like we were talking about some dynasty,” Joe later reflected on these childhood pep talks. “But it was real. It was real. It was palpable. You could taste it. You could feel it.”19


The four Biden children could also see it, or vestiges of it, in the back of their father’s closet, where he still kept a pair of riding boots and a polo mallet.20


When Joe was a toddler he was joined by a baby sister, Valerie. A few years after Val came Jimmy. Finally, eleven years after Joe came Frank.21


Joe’s biographer, the veteran journalist Jules Witcover, described the Bidens as a “particularly tight Irish Catholic family that put loyalty, along with religion, above all other considerations.”


Shacking up with down-on-their-luck relatives was a part of this ethos, and the kids shared a house with their mother’s brother, Edward Blewitt, and their great-aunt, Gertie.


One winter in Scranton, Joe and his friends were making mischief in the neighborhood when a snowball aimed at the outside of a truck sailed into the cabin and then into the driver’s face. The driver chased the gang up Joe’s driveway, but he was turned back when Aunt Gertie came roaring out of the house, brandishing a broomstick and hollering, “Get outta here, you son of a bitch!”22


As the oldest son, Joe inherited the role of protector in his generation. During their playground years, this meant letting Val tag along on his adventures. She’d hitch a ride on the handlebars of his bike, hopping off at the foot of big hills to run alongside him.23 Once, when Joe’s pals imposed a “No girls allowed” rule on a fort they had built in the woods, Joe ditched them to go off with Val and build a new fort of their own.24


“I was his sidekick,” Val recalled. “Wherever he went, he took me. I was part of the deal.”25 Joe would tell other kids, “If you like me, you like my sister.” Val, in return, watched her brother’s back.26


If Jimmy or Frank was having problems with a kid at school, Jean would tell them, “Why don’t you take your brother Joe along? He’ll show you how to throw a punch.” Once, according to Richard Ben Cramer’s What It Takes, she even gave Jimmy two dollars to punch another kid in the face.27 Cracking wise about Jean would, likewise, earn a kid a punch on the nose from Joe.28


The Biden children learned that their bonds to one another trumped all else. “There is no one on Earth closer than brother and sister,” their mother advised. “They’re the same blood. Even closer than parent and child.”29


From a young age, their parents instilled in them, too, the overriding importance of displaying a united front to the world. “Mom and Dad always told us that we were responsible for each other,” Val recalled of this upbringing. “There were four kids, and once we walked outside that door and that door shut, we were in the outside world and we were the Bidens. If we had something to say, if you wanted to punch somebody in the nose, you walked inside the house and did it, but you didn’t get in a fight outside.”


To hash out their disagreements, the Biden kids regularly called meetings among themselves, behind closed doors, without parental intrusion.30


This way of doing things could present problems. For a brief period during his parochial school days, Joe’s teachers deputized him for the school’s “safety patrol.” His job was to monitor his schoolmates’ behavior on the bus. His stint proved short-lived. When Val acted out, Joe faced a dilemma between his duties to the nuns and the blood ties the Bidens prized above all. Joe Sr. made him quit the safety patrol rather than turn in Val.31


(The us-against-the-world attitude endured through the generations. Decades later, when Joe would drive Beau and Hunter to school, the trio made a pastime of turning up the radio and singing along to the songs. They especially enjoyed Helen Reddy’s 1974 hit, “You and Me Against the World.”)32


The Bidens learned to stick together for a reason. Conditions in the outside world could be harsh. When work dried up with the oil company, Joe Sr. had to take a job cleaning boilers in Delaware, and he relocated his family there.33 Later, he found work as a car salesman. It was a good fit, because he loved to drive cars, and drive them fast. He would joke that he should have become an ambulance driver.34


Despite the family’s money woes, Joe’s childhood was the stuff of an all-American yesteryear—remarkable for just how ordinary it was. He liked to play baseball and football with kids from the neighborhood. Later, he came to like girls and cars. “We were, like, normal kids at the time,” as Val neatly sums it up.35


A visit to Scranton and a drive through northern Delaware offers a tour of the Bidens’ changing fortunes during these years. His childhood home in Scranton sits in a solidly middle-class neighborhood, though today, some of the houses there could use a fresh coat of paint.36


Their next neighborhood, in Claymont, was a step down. It didn’t have trees. On the car ride to their new home, Joe’s mother, sitting in the passenger seat, cried.37 Today, outside the manicured campus of Archmere Academy lies a busy street lined by a small strip mall, a gas station, and a billboard advertising the Delaware Hope Line, a government hotline for accessing substance abuse and mental health resources.


After a few years across from Archmere, the Bidens moved to Wilson Road in Mayfield, a few miles away. Today, the squat house is painted gray and has a poured concrete driveway. The neighborhood is quieter, but still modest.38


Joe learned to be on the lookout for the next move up. In fact, he had his eyes on the presidency more or less from the start.


As a precocious adolescent, he seemed to be cut out well enough for the role that a waitress at a lunch counter around the corner from the Mayfield house took to calling him “President Biden.”39


As a schoolboy, he had written about his presidential ambitions for a classroom assignment, but when he returned decades later to address students as a first-term senator, he disavowed any plans for a White House run. This prompted a nun to fish his old paper out of her habit and confront Joe with hard evidence to the contrary.40


He was motivated to succeed in part by the regular presence in the family home of Uncle Edward. Boo-Boo, as they called him, had a stutter, and the speech impediment shot his confidence. He gave up on his career ambitions, descending into bitterness and drink.41


Joe struggled with a bad stutter of his own, and he did not want to go the way of Uncle Boo-Boo. In Mayfield, he transferred to a new school, Saint Helena’s. He was used to getting teased by his classmates, but at Saint Helena’s a nun mocked his stammered answer to a question by addressing him as “Mr. Bu-bu-bu-bu-Biden.” Joe walked straight out of her classroom and marched home. When he explained to his mother what had happened, she drove him back to school, walked him in, and told the nun, “If you ever speak to my son like that again, I’ll come back and rip that bonnet off your head. Do you understand me?”42


Dignity was important to the family. When Joe was a teenager, his parents went off to a Christmas party at his father’s dealership only to come back home while the night was still young. At the party, the owner of the dealership had thrown a bucket of silver dollars out onto the dance floor and watched the ensuing frenzy as his employees rushed to pick them up. The stunt disgusted Joe Sr., who quit his job and stormed out.43


A family friend explained that episodes like this one affected both Jimmy and Joe, but in different ways. “With Joe it translated into, ‘I want respect.’ With Jimmy it translated into, ‘I want money.’”44


In eighth grade, after hearing a presentation from a priest during his school’s vocation month, February, Joe came home and announced he might want to enter the seminary himself. That could start as soon as ninth grade. Jean told him he had to complete high school and college before he could become a priest.45


If it was to be high school, rather than the seminary, his heart remained set on Archmere. Despite the strain it put on the family’s budget, they scrounged up the money for tuition.


Joe made the most of his time at Archmere. To overcome his stutter, he recited the poetry of William Butler Yeats into the mirror in his bedroom.46 Inspired by a story about the Greek orator Demosthenes, he also tried filling his mouth with pebbles and shouting at a wall outside his house.47 That method proved less fruitful, but he nonetheless conquered the tic and flourished. He played for the school’s standout football team and, with Val running the campaign,48 got himself elected class president.


He did not lose sight of the other presidency. The big one. When Joe first met his future mother-in-law, she asked him about his career goals. What was he aiming for? “President,” he responded. After a moment of silence, he clarified, “Of the United States.”49


It was an audacious answer for the son of a car salesman, but Joe was continuing to hone his knack for crashing the gates. That’s how he had met the stunned woman’s daughter, Neilia Hunter, in the first place.


Joe was a junior at the University of Delaware when he took a spring break trip down to Fort Lauderdale. From there, he and some buddies decided to jump a cut-rate flight to the Bahamas. In Nassau, they noticed that the public beach they were making use of was not nearly as nice as the British Colonial Hotel’s next door. The British Colonial was blocked off by a chain-link fence, so Joe and his friends nicked some towels emblazoned with the hotel’s insignia that were hanging on the fence and waltzed in past security, right through the front door.


It was Archmere all over again: Joe peered inside, liked what he saw, and went for it.


Encountering a pair of attractive coeds poolside, Joe declared, “I’ve got the blonde,” and introduced himself to Neilia.


They hit it off and started dating. The draws of college life gave way to a single-minded focus on Neilia.


Joe was not particularly scholarly in college, much to his father’ chagrin. “I was looking for Bs, a C-plus,” Joe Sr. groused about the low bar his son often failed to hit.50 Despite Joe’s lackluster grades, he resolved to attend Syracuse Law School to be close to Neilia, and he got in.51


Jimmy was not focused on academics, either. But when he was graduating high school, Joe took his younger brother to meet the dean of the University of Delaware’s college of agriculture. “It was the easiest one to get into,” Jimmy explained. It worked. Jimmy got in, and later transferred into the college of arts and sciences.52


Things tended to work out for the siblings. The Bidens were attractive, athletic, and popular.


Jimmy had a rascally sense of humor and was something of a rogue, always on the make. Frank, like Joe, struggled with a stutter, and idolized his confident oldest brother, who overcame it with greater ease. “I was considered a dummy,” recalled Frank, who came to consider Joe his hero.53 As a teenager, he bounced around from high school to high school,54 but he earned a reputation as an athlete along the way. He was a high-scoring guard on the basketball court55 and a standout football kicker.56


Val, the responsible one, was studious. She followed Joe to the University of Delaware, where she made the dean’s list.57 She was also named Homecoming Queen.


For his part, Joe quit the college football team to spend more time with Neilia (or Joe Sr. made him quit because his grades were suffering, depending on which source you consult).58 She was from upstate New York, where her family had a big spread up on one of the Finger Lakes, Skaneateles. After the Bahamas, Joe began driving up there on weekends to be with her. To pay for the sojourns, he drove cars that his father’s Chevrolet dealership needed moved from one location to another.59


Law school did not make Joe any more scholarly. A botched citation on a paper got him investigated for plagiarism. He talked his way out of it and survived the rest of law school by the skin of his teeth. To make ends meet, he took on part-time work driving a school bus.60


Between his first and second years, he and Neilia married. As a wedding gift, Joe Sr. gave him a green Corvette convertible.61


After his graduation in 1968, the couple moved back to Wilmington. He took a job at a white-shoe, Republican law firm but soon left to work as a public defender.


They had their first child, Joseph Robinette Biden III, on February 3, 1969. They called him Beau. A year and a day after Beau, Robert Hunter Biden came along. The next year brought Naomi Christina Biden. They called her Amy, and sometimes Caspy, on account of a resemblance to Casper the Friendly Ghost.62 Rounding out the happy family were two dogs, a Great Dane and a German shepherd.63


Joe was determined to give them a home fit for a Biden. As a student at Archmere, he would fantasize about the fine houses he glimpsed from the school bus window. “I’d been seduced by real estate,” he later confessed.64


So, after law school, he embarked on a frantic climb up the property ladder. With money from his father-in-law, he bought one house to rent out and flip. Then, he set his eyes on another house nestled into some woods at the end of a cul-de-sac.65 The house was out of Joe’s price range, so he convinced his parents to buy it and move in, sitting on it until Joe could afford it himself. His parents, in turn, sold to Joe the house he had grown up in on Wilson Road, and Joe planned to move back into it. But then he was offered a deal on a cottage set on seventeen acres. He and his young family could live there rent free if he managed a swimming club on the grounds. Joe took the deal and rented out his boyhood home to tenants.


While living on the grounds of the swim club, he soon set his eyes on another property, a farm over the Delaware state line. At eighty-five acres, there was room for Joe’s siblings and parents to build houses of their own: a proper Biden compound at last. Joe bought it. Jimmy fixed it up and found some more tenants.66 Still shy of thirty, Joe was presiding over a small property empire.


But he was still striving when it came to real estate. On the weekends, he took his family on drives around the region, looking for their dream home.67 They found a handsome Colonial with a swimming pool, situated on three acres on North Star Road, in a leafy neighborhood west of Wilmington proper.


He bought it, but the purchase was complicated by Joe’s other new pastime: politics.


In the late ’60s, Joe did not fully identify with either party. The Finnegans were Truman Democrats, but the party’s Southern wing represented white racial reaction. Joe briefly fancied himself a Republican and considered running for office as one, but he had no love for Richard Nixon.68


Instead, he cast his lot with the local Democrats and won a seat on the New Castle County Council in 1970. Neilia and Val ran the campaign. The whole clan helped to canvass the county. “There was a Biden at every door,” Val recalled.69


When Joe won, his taste for real estate collided with his political career. The North Star house was outside of his county council district. He enlisted his parents in another game of property musical chairs. Joe Sr. and Jean moved into the newly purchased North Star house, while Joe and his family moved into the house his parents vacated, which was inside the bounds of his district.70 (Years later, it emerged that the house, which remained Joe’s residence through the beginning of his Senate tenure, came with a restrictive covenant barring it from being “owned or occupied by any Negro or person of Negro extraction.” Joe said that the clause, which had long been rendered unenforceable by the Supreme Court, had appeared on a separate document from the deed his father had signed, and that his parents had filed a declaration disavowing the covenant.)71


Joe’s new duties gave him another early glimpse of the uncomfortable tensions between family life and public duty. After he took his seat on the council, a local bigwig, John Rollins, came seeking permission to install a helipad at his corporate headquarters. Joe’s constituents did not want a helicopter coming and going over their neighborhoods. So Joe killed the helipad. But the decision was uncomfortable. In addition to being a former lieutenant governor, Rollins had employed Joe’s father at a car dealership.


A subsequent encounter with Rollins was awkward, but the onetime officeholder reassured Joe, “I’d have done the same damn thing.”72


It soon became clear that zoning fights and tiptoeing around the bigshots of the Brandywine Valley held little interest for Joe. He had barely settled into the county council when he decided to run for the U.S. Senate.


This was to be the most audacious gate-crash yet. The incumbent, Republican Caleb Boggs, was widely revered. Joe, on the other hand, had barely been out of diapers when Delawareans had first sent Boggs to Congress. Joe’s résumé did not exactly scream out for membership in the nation’s most august body, either. He was juggling barely launched careers in law and local politics. He would be twenty-nine years old on Election Day, and become age-eligible for the chamber only in the interval between the vote and the January swearing-in.


In other ways, though, Joe was prepared to leapfrog to the top of the American pecking order more than anybody outside of the Biden clan could hope to realize.


Some of the hints were less subtle than others. While Joe was living on the grounds of the swim club, his future Senate colleague Bill Roth was already a neighbor. They got to know each other on account of their dogs. Roth’s dog was a Saint Bernard, Ludwig. One of Joe’s dogs was named Governor.


Joe explained the name away as some sort of Biden family inside joke. The same went for the name of Joe’s other dog: Senator.73















The Children’s Crusade





“I just hope I see him before my brother does.”


—Joe, condemning a volunteer who betrayed his campaign




On March 20, 1972, Joe announced his run for the Senate with a speech at the Hotel DuPont in Wilmington, then boarded a prop plane, stuck Beau on his lap, and took off to barnstorm the state with his family.74


He didn’t have money, or name recognition, or experience, or a political machine. What he had was his youth, his charm, and the Bidens.


Val served as his campaign manager. Her husband, Bruce Saunders, was budget director.75


Neilia was involved in nearly all aspects of the campaign.76 Jimmy was in charge of fund-raising. Frank, all of eighteen years old, oversaw the campaign headquarters.77


Joe Sr. served as a surrogate at events that Joe could not make.78 It was a role that confused many voters, who assumed the more senior Biden was the one running. This could occur even at events where his son was standing onstage with him.79


The family’s early strategy boiled down to providing voters, particularly women voters, an intimate glimpse of Joe. Before he announced, the family put on a never-ending series of coffee klatches around the state to give the housewives of Delaware a chance to see Joe up close. Jean, known to campaign volunteers as “Mama Biden,” scheduled the coffees.80 After each get-together, Neilia and Val sent a handwritten note to each attendee.81


They had gotten the idea from the Kennedys, who hosted family teas as part of Jack’s 1952 Massachusetts Senate campaign, another long shot challenge to an entrenched Republican incumbent. The Bidens even hired a Kennedy aide, Matt Reese, to help them pull it off.82


Such parallels did not go unnoticed. Pointing to the family-run campaign, Time magazine described him as a candidate “in the Kennedy mold.”83


“He has a Kennedy style about him,” a Republican aide conceded to the AP.84


This was all before describing a young pol as Kennedy-esque became a cliché, and well before “You, sir, are no Jack Kennedy,” entered the lexicon.


Of course, a little charisma and mystique were no substitutes for a campaign, so the Bidens campaigned. Doggedly. They put in seventeen-hour days.85 Joe would sometimes get home from a day of campaigning close to midnight, his wife and three children in the car with him, fast asleep.86 Sometimes, Neilia would take the wheel so that Joe could get out of the car at every red light and shake a few hands before it changed.87


Enduring this sort of slog to slowly flip a few votes came naturally to a family steeped in the great midcentury American tradition of sales. Both Joe Sr. and his brother, Uncle Frank, worked car lots in Wilmington. Uncle Boo Boo was a traveling mattress salesman.88 This was like second nature to them. “In the Biden family,” the younger Frank Biden, Joe’s brother, explained, “we call it door-to-door, store to store, ’til there ain’t no more.”89


To keep the operation funded, Jimmy learned to be an aggressive deal closer. He would take the train to Washington, or zip around the country, hanging around labor leaders and various other poobahs, trying to get them to take him and his big brother seriously.


When enough money was rolling in to hire outside help, Joe interviewed some professional consultants. They advised him to get his family out of the campaign and their pictures out of the mailers that were blanketing the state. It sent the wrong message. “They said that people don’t equate strength with a family man,” Val recalled later, “and they said Joey needed to look strong in order to have a chance to win.”


Joe showed those consultants the door.90 They didn’t understand that the Bidens were the message.


Joe did sign up Pat Caddell, a twenty-two-year-old pollster out of Harvard, and John Marttila, another young consultant from Boston. A DuPont engineer, Ted Kaufman, came on as a volunteer, and quickly became a trusted consigliere.


Naturally, Joe set himself up as the candidate of change.


Vietnam was still raging, and in response to discontent over the draft, the Twenty-Sixth Amendment had just passed, lowering the voting age by three years. This was to be the first national election in which eighteen-, nineteen-, and twenty-year-olds could vote, and youth was one of the few clear advantages Joe held over his sexagenarian opponent.


With a shoestring budget and no notion of what a U.S. Senate campaign looked like from the inside, the Bidens improvised. “We created a brand-new campaign because we had no option,” Val explained.91


Jimmy and Frank recruited their friends into a massive youth volunteer operation, which swelled to hundreds of members. Val enlisted her students at the Wilmington Friends School. (According to Richard Ben Cramer’s What It Takes, she told them they had to volunteer if they wanted to pass her class.)92


The campaign printed up faux newspapers touting Joe’s promise and the volunteers distributed them by hand. They’d blanket the state with two hundred thousand copies in a weekend. Joe might have been a long shot, but the newsprint made him seem real. “People believed newspapers then,” recalled Tom Stiltz, one of the campaign’s youthful volunteers.93


In their rare off hours, the youthful staff socialized together, swimming and playing touch football. “I guess we thought we were the Kennedys,” recalled Richard Heffron, who worked on the campaign.94


Val dubbed the effort a latter-day “Children’s Crusade.”95 The Bidens were counting on those children to help them win converts. Joe figured that teenagers had more influence over their elders than vice versa, so he campaigned at high schools in Republican areas, knowing the students would go home and talk him up to their parents.96


Boggs, meanwhile, barely lifted a finger. Despite these upstart Bidens, his seat was still considered safe. By Labor Day, Joe was down twenty-eight points in the polls.97 But every day the clan kept grinding, and every day it added up.


Slowly, Joe started to get national attention. At the time, his law school buddy, Jack Owens, was working for Milton Shapp, a Democrat and the first Jewish governor of Pennsylvania. He enlisted Shapp to come south and campaign for Joe at an event at the Hotel DuPont. The crowd could have been bigger, but Joe and Shapp were competing with a Jewish wedding being held at the Brandywine Country Club. So, after the hotel event, they decided to crash the wedding.98


At the end of September, the campaign got an even bigger boost when Ted Kennedy came to town, with a Secret Service escort in tow.


At St. Mark’s High School, nuns flocked to Teddy like teenyboppers to the Beatles. At the state party’s annual Jefferson-Jackson dinner, the $50-dollar-a-plate filet mignon was more like a lump of brown beef roast, but what the event lacked in gastronomy, it made up for in enthusiasm. State party chairman Michael Poppiti suggested Teddy should run for president, and the crowd roared.


In his remarks, Teddy singled Joe out for praise. It was a Saturday night, and after dinner, Joe and Teddy hit the town in their tuxes. With Neilia in tow, they cruised over to a dance hall in the Polish section of town for “Patriotic Night,” where the band, complete with an accordion player, performed next to an American flag.


“We don’t want to interrupt your dance,” Teddy announced. “But Joe Biden and I thought we’d drop by and see if we could find somebody to dance with.” Women squealed.


Afterward, Teddy zipped back to Washington on a private plane owned by local magnate John Rollins, Joe Sr.’s old boss, who evidently was not suffering for his lack of a helipad.99


Clearly, the Biden campaign was starting to catch on. In the final weeks before the election, Boggs started to wake up. At a rally hosted by the Wilmington Republican Committee at the Hotel DuPont in mid-October, the incumbent complained of “distortions and innuendos” in a Biden ad on his tax record. As Boggs spoke, Neilia sat in the crowd with a tape recorder. That night, she was playing the role of campaign tracker—the person, usually a young staffer, tasked with attending all the opposing candidate’s events and recording them in hopes of catching a misstep. Wilmington’s Republican mayor spotted her and called out her presence, prompting Neilia to smile and clap, according to reporter Curtis Wilkie.100


To counter Joe’s newsprint strategy, the Republicans ordered advertising inserts to go out in the state’s largest newspapers, the Morning News and Evening Journal, which were under common ownership. Just like Joe’s campaign literature, the inserts looked like real newspapers. One featured a picture of a kitchen sink on the cover and the caption, “The only thing that Joe Biden hasn’t promised you.”101


The weekend before the election, the Republicans were going to run an insert with a picture of the moon on the cover and the same caption. The empire was striking back.


Joe had already taken out a mortgage on his house to keep the campaign afloat. The Bidens were out of money to counter Boggs’s last-minute push with ads of their own.


To make matters worse, on the Thursday before the election, the Morning News ran a front page story about a volunteer, Victor Livingston, who had quit the Biden campaign in outrage over Joe’s opinions on Israel. Livingston said Joe instructed him to author a campaign position paper that offered strong support for Israel, even though Joe did not believe in it, because Joe was courting Jewish donors.102


Joe, who contested Livingston’s version of events, was furious. The former volunteer expressed fear that the Bidens were going to come after him, evidently with good reason.


“I just hope I see him before my brother does,” the candidate told Robert Schwabach, a Wilmington-based reporter for the Philadelphia Inquirer. When Schwabach asked Joe if that was because his brother would attack Livingston, the candidate responded, “Naw, he would just kiss him on the cheek.”103


Then, on Thursday night, the Bidens’ luck turned. The unionized truck drivers who distributed the newspapers went on strike, bringing production and distribution of the News Journal Company papers to a halt. A brawl broke out at the printing plant between picketing truck drivers and printers trying to enter the facility. Several people were injured, forcing police to intervene. The papers did not get out in any number again until Monday, the day before the election. Neither did the Republicans’ anti-Biden insert.104


A group of Republican volunteers scrambled to pass out as many copies of the insert as they could by hand, but they got nowhere close to saturating the state.105


Then, on the eve of the election, Joe got another gift from the Kennedys. George McGovern’s running mate, Sargent Shriver, and his wife, Eunice Kennedy—Jack and Teddy’s sister—came to New Castle to campaign for the Democratic slate. The rally kicked off with a torchlit parade to the courthouse square. Joe and Shriver drew the biggest cheers that night.106


Luckily for Joe, his fortunes were not as hitched to McGovern’s and Shriver’s as they normally would be. Delaware had just done away with voting machines that allowed for straight-ballot voting with a single pull of the lever. The Nixon landslide that was materializing would not so easily sweep Joe’s campaign away with it.


On Election Day, there was more good news. The skies over Delaware were clear, pointing to higher turnout, a boon to a Democratic candidate.


Joe and his supporters gathered in a ballroom at the Hotel DuPont. As the results trickled in, he and Boggs traded the lead throughout the night.


In the end, the weather, the strike, the youth vote, the end of the straight-ticket machines, all came together for the upstart Biden campaign. Just before the clocks tolled midnight, Val made it official. “We won!” she announced over the sound system. They had eked it out by three thousand votes.


The band struck up “Happy Days Are Here Again.” Joe waited another half hour or so for official confirmation of his win, then he and his young supporters partied into the wee hours.107


Among the revelers that night was a college student, Jill Jacobs. Her husband, a rock club owner, was a big supporter of Joe’s. Jill took notice of Neilia, an island of calm among the frenzy in the ballroom, and introduced herself. “Congratulations on your win,” Jill told her. Neilia smiled back at her, and responded, “Thank you so much.”108


As it happened, at the end of the night, Jill and her husband retired to a hotel room two doors down from Joe and Neilia’s.109


The Bidens had done it. From there on out, the family saw Joe’s political career as their collective endeavor. They took on the habit of speaking of it in terms of “we”—“We haven’t decided what our position is on that,” or “We aren’t running for President.”110


Joe was among the youngest people ever elected to the Senate, having won an unwinnable race. The achievement was all the more remarkable because Nixon had carried forty-nine states. Joe’s win was the rare bright spot for Democrats that November, and the biggest upset of the cycle.


Just as remarkable was that the campaign had been managed by his twenty-seven-year-old kid sister.


Today, if a twentysomething woman with no political experience were to manage the biggest upset campaign of a whole election cycle, her face would be on magazine covers. She would likely become a household name, especially, if like Val, she had done it while recovering from a miscarriage.111 The feat was even more extraordinary back in 1972. When Joe took office, there were no female senators in the chamber.112 The first woman had just been permitted to serve as an elevator operator in the Senate the year before.113


In fact, plenty of people felt Val should have been the Biden on the ticket. After all, she had gotten better marks than her older brother in college and been voted homecoming queen. Instead of a Senate seat or a magazine cover, she got a profile in the local paper that dubbed her “the best-looking campaign manager in the country.” The reporter told her, “It must have been fun playing touch football with you, especially for the other team.” Val laughed it off.114 Another profile of the campaign described her as “all steel sinews under beauty.”115


When Joe earned ink in Time magazine on the eve of the election, Val’s name didn’t make the profile, though Neilia was mentioned as a “pretty blonde.”116


Of course, this says a lot about American attitudes toward gender in the early 1970s. But there was also a class element to the short shrift given Val. Three years earlier, Hillary Clinton had delivered a commencement address at Wellesley, the elite, northeastern women’s college, in which she spoke up in favor of protest and criticized the other commencement speaker, Massachusetts Republican senator Ed Brooks. The act of delivering some controversial remarks on a prestigious campus got her featured in Life magazine.117 She was invited to address the fiftieth-anniversary convention of the League of Women Voters.118


Clinton went on to spend the summer of 1972 campaigning in Texas for McGovern’s flameout of a campaign.


Val, with her good grades from the University of Delaware, and her methodical approach to winning, didn’t take on the same cachet.


It was a pattern that endured over the decades. The Bidens never seemed to get the same respect, or inspire the same awe—or hatred, for that matter—as the Clintons, with their Ivy league degrees, or the Obamas, who had those and global celebrity, or the Kennedys, who also had both, and a family fortune to boot.


Despite all the Camelot comparisons, the Bidens lacked those ingredients of the Kennedy mystique.


And there was another missing element that made the Kennedy comparison incomplete, but that would abruptly change.


On December 18, Joe and Val were in Washington assembling a staff. Among others, they were bringing on Wes Barthelmes, a former Bobby Kennedy aide.119


While the Senate was in recess, the Bidens had temporarily set up their DC headquarters in the offices of West Virginia senator Robert Byrd, where a phone call came in for Val. It was Jimmy.120 He told her there had been a car accident. A truck coming down a hill had plowed into the side of Neilia’s car at an intersection while she was out shopping for a Christmas tree. Neilia and Naomi were dead. Beau and Hunter were seriously injured.121


“There’s been a slight accident,” Val told Joe. “Nothing to be worried about. But we ought to go home.”122


Jimmy arranged for a plane to rush Joe and Val back to Delaware.


As their footsteps echoed through the empty hallways of the Russell Senate Office Building, Joe turned to Val and said, “She’s dead, isn’t she?”


Val could not bear to break it to him. “I don’t know, Joey,” she said. They flew home in silence.123


The campaign had made the Bidens a lively subplot of the 1972 election cycle. The crash seared their story into the national consciousness.


Reporters and cameras were a constant presence at Wilmington Medical Center, where Hunter, two, and Beau, three, lay recovering. Ted Kennedy sent a doctor to look after Beau and Hunter.124


Hunter’s first memory was lying next to his big brother in a hospital bed, while Beau held his hand, looked into his eyes, and repeated, “I love you. I love you.”125 He does not remember a time before his family drama became national news.


Joe slept in their hospital room. In the weeks afterward, he was inconsolable and filled with rage at the blow he had been dealt by fate.


He considered quitting the Senate before he started. He went to the bishop of Wilmington to ask about getting a special dispensation to become a priest.126 Jimmy began talks with Sherman Tribbitt, the newly elected governor, about the process of appointing a successor. But the Senate majority leader, Mike Mansfield of Montana, was not having it, and he convinced Joe to give the Senate a shot.127


On Friday, January 5, 1973, Joe took his oath of office at the hospital chapel on a massive Bible with a Celtic cross on the cover that had been in the family since 1893.128 Hunter had been released from the hospital’s care, but Beau remained bedridden. Before the swearing-in, Beau and Hunter presented their father with a pair of gold pens in Beau’s hospital room, with news crews looking on. The media swarm grew too large for Beau’s room, so he was wheeled into the chapel, where Joe’s old headmaster from Archmere gave an invocation.


Beau tried to make a speech. Hunter tried to play with the microphones the networks had set up on a podium. Joe took the oath with his back facing the cameras from the national networks, so an NBC correspondent induced him to turn around and take it again.


The Morning News described the scene as “both tragedy and carnival.”129


Joe went through severe depression. The title of his memoir, Promises to Keep, is an allusion to Robert Frost’s 1923 poem, “Stopping by Woods on a Snowy Evening.” In it, the narrator pauses his journey on a cold winter’s night to entertain a temptation to wander off into a frozen forest.


It ends:




The woods are lovely, dark and deep,


But I have promises to keep,


And miles to go before I sleep,


And miles to go before I sleep.





The poem is widely interpreted to be about the contemplation of suicide. In the aftermath of the accident, Joe did consider killing himself. “Suicide wasn’t just an option, but a rational option,” he wrote in the memoir. Instead, he decided he owed it to his sons to keep going.130


Val and her husband moved in with Joe so that she could take care of Beau and Hunter. Jimmy, too, took on the role of surrogate parent, setting up an apartment in Joe’s garage.131 In Washington, Joe barely attended to his Senate duties, spending all day on the phone with Val, Jimmy, his sons, his parents.


Jimmy, Joe’s steady companion during this time, would sometimes take leave of Joe as his older brother sat at his home study at the end of the night, only to find Joe still planted in the same spot in the morning, staring at the wall. “I’m not sure how much he valued in his life in those days,” Jimmy recalled. “Except the boys.”132


Joe’s memoir does not mention Frank’s role during this time, but he did not stray far from his grieving big brother. Reports issued by the Architect of the Capitol show he got work as an elevator operator in the Senate in Joe’s first year there.133


In the immediate aftermath of the crash, Joe and Jimmy would walk silently through the streets of Wilmington’s roughest neighborhoods at night, looking for a fight.134


Two months into his Senate term, Joe traveled to New Orleans with Jimmy to give a speech at Tulane University. Late at night, the brothers came across four men walking toward them. Neither group was going to give ground so they walked right into each other. Joe thought to himself, Take ’em on. As they all stood facing each other, wondering who would throw the first punch, a cop came around the corner. It finally dawned on Joe, What the hell am I doing? I’m a United States senator.135
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